
Children's Commissioning Committee 
Dear Member,

You are invited to attend the meeting of the Children's Commissioning Committee to 
be held as follows for the transaction of the business indicated.
Miranda Carruthers-Watt 
Proper Officer

DATE: Wednesday, 1 May 2019

TIME: 2.30 pm

VENUE: Salford Suite, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton

In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 
2014,’ the press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record 
this meeting. 

AGENDA

1  Introductions and Apologies for Absence 

2  Declarations of Interest 

3  Terms of Reference - for information (Pages 1 - 24)

4  Business Planning Update  - Karen Proctor/Emma Reid (Pages 25 - 42)

5  Committee Work programme - Charlotte Ramsden/Deborah 
Blackburn - presentation 

6  Fostering Allowances Report - for information (Pages 43 - 52)

7  Finance Report - Joanne Hardman/Steve Dixon (Pages 53 - 64)

8  Any Other Business 

9  Date of next meetings - 10th July at 09:30am-11:30am OR 24th 
July at 09:30am-11:30am TBC 

Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 2811
Helen Oldland E-Mail: helen.oldland@salford.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



Children’s Commissioning Committee (CCC)

Terms of Reference

1. Background and scope

The Children’s Commissioning Committee will have responsibility (subject to 
reserved matters) for all matters relating to the Children’s Services Integrated Health 
and Care Fund  (Pooled Budget and Aligned Budgets) as set out in the Partnership 
Agreement Relating to Integrated Health and Care Commissioning Arrangements (the 
Partnership Agreement) Salford City Council (SCC) and NHS Salford Clinical 
Commissioning Group (SCCG).

This document sets out new commissioning arrangements where GPs via SCCG and 

Councillors of SCC can contribute to, and make decisions with regards to health and social 

care matters. The ethos of partnership working will underpin the programme of work, 

recognising that on occasion, difficult decisions may be required to benefit the Salford 

population.

These Terms of Reference form part of the Partnership Agreement Relating to Integrated 

Health and Care Commissioning Arrangements (“the Partnership Agreement”) between 

Salford City Council (SCC) and NHS Salford Clinical Commissioning Group (SCCG).

In respect of the Integrated Health and Care Fund  (Pooled Budget), the Children’s 

Commissioning Committee (‘the Committee’) will sit as a joint committee established under 

Regulation 10(2) of the NHS Bodies and Local Authorities Partnership Arrangements 

Regulations 2000 (“the 2000 Regulations”). In respect of the CCG Aligned Budget element 

of the Integrated Health and Care Fund  (Aligned Budgets), the Committee will sit as a 

Committee of the Governing Body of SCCG on which there is Council representation. For 

the avoidance of doubt, insofar as the Committee sits as a joint committee under the 2000 

Regulations, Salford City Council (SCC) and/or NHS Salford CCG (SCCG) are delegating 

the making of commissioning decisions to the Committee and not to their individual 

representatives on the Committee. For the avoidance of doubt where the Committee sits as 

a Committee of the Governing Body of SCCG, SCCG is delegating the making of 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



commissioning decisions to the Committee collectively and not to individual representatives 

on the Committee.

The Committee also acts as a venue in which decisions may be taken by the relevant SCC 

or SCCG Officer or SCC Member in respect of Retained Decisions.  Retained Decisions 

relate to statutory duties and are decisions only exercisable by a specified Officer or SCC 

Member as detailed in Schedule 4 of the Partnership Agreement.  For the avoidance of 

doubt, the relevant SCC or SCCG Officer or SCC Member retains an absolute discretion to 

take Retained Decisions outside of the venue of the Committee. Before reaching such a 

decision the Officer or SCC Member shall use reasonable endeavours to ensure that he/she 

has heard and participated in discussion on the subject matter relevant to such Retained 

Decision at the relevant meeting of the Committee.  Such decisions should be formally 

reported to the next relevant meeting of the Committee (although a failure to so report will 

not invalidate the decision).

The Committee will provide a place for engagement regarding “in view” decisions relating to 

children, which are made by SCC or SCCG.  Such “in view” decisions made by SCC or 

SCCG should also be reported to the Committee for information (although a failure to so 

report will not invalidate the decision).

The Children’s Advisory Board is responsible for supporting the programme management 

and coordination of SCC’s transformation programme for Children, Young People and their 

Families.  The Board focus will be on the system wide transformation outlined in the diagram 

below:

Page 2



The Committee will be responsible for the Commissioning Plan for 0-25 People’s Service.

The Committee will have delegated decision making authority of up to £1m in relation to all 

associated children’s commissioning decisions, with regards to the Integrated Health and 

Care Fund  (Pooled Budget) and the CCG Aligned Budget element of the Integrated Health 

and Care Fund  (Aligned Budgets), and any other future funding streams (such as grants). In 

addition, other officers and committees will have the authority to commit ‘Pooled’ and 

‘Aligned’ resources as identified in Schedule 5 of the Partnership Agreement (this schedule 

will be attached to the working copies of the Terms of Reference).

Through its decision making processes it will adhere to all relevant aspects of SCC’s 

Constitution, including SCC’s duties of transparency in relation to ‘Key Decisions’. It will also 

adhere to all relevant aspects of the NHS Salford CCG’s Constitution (including its Standing 

Orders and Standing Financial Instructions

In line with the Commissioning Plan  the Committee in its different configurations, will have 

responsibility for the management of system level performance as well as the overall 

performance of providers commissioned from the Integrated Health and Care Fund  (Pooled 

Budget and Aligned Budgets). 

As required, the Committee may establish non-decision making groups and seek 

assurances about progress via the receipt of regular reports.

Page 3



These Terms of Reference have been prepared to outline the responsibilities of the 

Committee. They will be approved by SCCG’s Governing Body and by SCC’s City Mayor in 

consultation with SCC’s Cabinet. They will remain valid until such time as there is a need to 

implement revised governance arrangements in accordance with section 9 of these Terms of 

Reference.

Partnership working is vital to the success of the integrated commissioning, however it is 

acknowledged that at all times, individual organisation powers remain in place as set out 

below and in the Partnership Agreement.

2. Core Principles and Responsibilities

Core Principles of the work of the Committee will be driven by the following core 
principles:

 Decisions will be based on achieving better outcomes and experience for children, 

young people and families who require Health and Care Services; 

 Service transformation will deliver an effective and efficient use of resources (within 

the statutory requirement to meet the SCCG’s and SCC’s financial duties) whilst 

assuring safe and effective standards of service;

 New service models will be developed by health and social care commissioners in 

partnership with providers, citizens and communities;

 Services will be evidence-based and of the best quality, encompassing safety, 

effectiveness and experience;

 Salford residents will be given more choice and control of services, in so far as this is 

possible and practical, and influence over services which promote prevention, and  

support self-care and independence;

 Clinical and democratic accountability will be implicit within all decisions;

 Respect will be given for professional areas of knowledge and expertise; 

 There will be collective management of risks and benefits; and

 Each organisation remains sovereign: whilst decision-making responsibilities can be 

shared, accountability cannot. 

The Committee has responsibility to deliver clearly defined objectives which are 
detailed below:

 Contribute to the development of SCC’s and SCCG’s  joint Strategic and Operational 

Plans for children and young people;

Page 4



 Acknowledge the interdependencies of this programme of work ensuring that all 

options considered are congruent with, but not limited to:

 Wider Salford Integrated Commissioning Arrangements;

 0-25s Advisory Board;

 Greater Manchester Devolution;

 Joint Commissioning of Primary Care;

 Healthier Together/ North West Sector Acute Reconfiguration Programme; 

and;

 National guidance, including from NHS England, Department of Health, 

Department for Education, Public Health England, and other relevant 

national organisations;

 Respond and contribute to the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA), working in 

partnership with other statutory and non-statutory organisations to improve health 

and wellbeing and reduce inequalities;

 Lead the development and delivery of the Children’s commissioning Plan;

 Inform the work of Children’s Scrutiny Panel as well as providing appropriate 

reporting in response to the ‘call in’ resulting from key decisions;

 Develop a robust evaluation framework to ensure progress can be measured against 

the Locality Plan and Children’s Commissioning Plan aims and improvement targets;

 Facilitate coherence and working towards shared goals and objectives with co-

commissioners and other partners;

 To instigate performance intervention in line with contract clauses e.g. performance 

notices, contract deductions etc. Information received will include:

 Compliance or any failure to comply with standards and targets;

 Service user/patient or carer experience feedback (including themes and 

trends from complaints and surveys);

 Measures of staff satisfaction; and

 Safeguarding case reviews and data via the Bridge;

 Make investment/disinvestment decisions and review evaluations;

 Consider provider performance, including quality assurance; 

 Set improvement targets and timescales, using the identified improvement measures;

 Establish arrangements to enable the development of new models of care;

 Review existing initiatives to align complimentary workstreams and consolidate 

projects;

Page 5



 As appropriate, consult with and allocate responsibilities / tasks to appropriate sub 

groups;

 Ensure democratic accountability through the role of Elected Members on the 

Committee;

 Ensure clinical and professional accountability and leadership;

 Propose changes to existing payment mechanisms and contractual arrangements 

with relevant providers where necessary to support new models of care and 

outcomes based commissioning;

 Promote learning that could be shared with other programmes and / or applied to 

different client groups; 

 Ensure that all aspects of best practice, both nationally and internationally are duly 

considered and where appropriate applied;

 Ensure that appropriate risk management and escalation processes are correctly 

adhered to; 

 Ensure that all aspects of financial governance are followed; and

 Seek advice from the Safeguarding Board about the impact of decisions on safety. 

These core principles and responsibilities should be read in conjunction with the levels of 

decision making authority provided in Schedule 5 of the Partnership Agreement.

3. Membership, Attendance and Quorum

Membership

The Committee will comprise the following core members:

Voting Members – Name Organisation

Lead Member for Children’s and Young People Services Salford City Council

Executive Support for Education and Learning Salford City Council

Executive Support for Social Care and Mental  Health Salford City Council

Lead member for Finance and Support Services Salford City Council

Clinical Director of Partnerships/Neighbourhood Lead NHS Salford CCG

Chief Accountable Officer NHS Salford CCG

Clinical Director of Transformation NHS Salford CCG

Chief Finance Officer NHS Salford CCG

Page 6



Neighbourhood Lead NHS Salford CCG

Director of Commissioning NHS Salford CCG

Director of Quality and Innovation NHS Salford CCG

Non-Voting Members – Name Organisation

Strategic Director for People Salford City Council

Director of Public Health Salford City Council

Chief Finance Officer Salford City Council

Other individuals will be co-opted onto the Committee as necessary on an ad-hoc or longer 

term basis to inform discussions and in addition. Such individuals will be non-voting.

The Committee may also invite other people to address it, deliver a report to it and/or answer 

questions.

The Committee will be jointly chaired by the Lead Member for Children’s and Young People 

Services on behalf of SCC and the Clinical Director of Partnerships on behalf of SCCG with 

chairing responsibility rotated between meetings.

Agendas will be jointly agreed in terms of content and forward planning. Agendas will be 

structured to clearly distinguish between decisions to be taken in respect of the Integrated 

Health and Care Fund  (Pooled Budget) by the Committee sitting as a joint committee under 

the 2000 Regulations, decisions taken in respect of the CCG Aligned Budget element of the 

Integrated Health and Care Fund   by the Committee sitting as a committee of the Governing 

Body of SCCG and Retained Decisions taken by the relevant the SCC or SCCG Officer in 

the venue of the Committee.

Committee meeting support will be provided by SCC. The main contact at SCCG will be 

nominated by the Head of Governance and Policy. The main contact at SCC will be 

nominated by the SCC Monitoring Officer. Defined duties will specifically include the 

circulation of agendas and papers five clear working days in advance of each scheduled 

meeting. In addition, officer support will assist the chair(s) in the management of all 

associated business.

Attendance

It will be important that members of the Committee commit to attend the Committee. 

However, where this is not possible a substitute appointed by the relevant organisation may 

Page 7



attend. Substitutes must be able to contribute and make decisions on behalf of the 

organisation they are representing and, if substituting for a voting member, vote. 

Quorum, Decision Making, Voting and Urgent Decisions

The Committee will be quorate providing one-third of the voting membership is in 

attendance, with at least three members present from each of SCCG and SCC.

The Committee will aim to achieve a consensus for all decisions. 

Where the Committee is making a decision as a joint committee of SCCG and SCC a 

decision reached is a joint decision of the partners binding on both partners.

Where the Committee is making a decision as a committee of the Governing Body of SCCG 

that decision is a decision of SCCG and is  binding on SCCG only.

In those circumstances where consensus cannot be reached and a decision must be taken, 

the issue may be put to a vote.

If a decision of the Committee acting as a joint committee is put to a vote, then all SCCG 

members will be entitled to vote on behalf of SCCG. SCC voting members will be entitled to 

vote on behalf of SCC. This is subject to the decision-making safeguards set out below.

If a decision of the Committee acting as a committee of the Governing Body of SCCG is put 

to a vote, then all voting members entitled to vote (see below) shall do so as individual 

members of the Committee. This is subject to the decision-making safeguards set out 
below. Should it be agreed that a matter should be taken to a vote (see below for how this is 

to be decided), there shall be an equal number of votes allocated to SCCG members and to 

SCC voting members regardless of the number of members in attendance. The number of 

votes will be determined by reference to the lower number of voting members in attendance 

at that meeting from either of the partners. Votes will be given in the order of the voting 

members listed in the table above, to the number required to meet the determined number of 

voting members  from either organisation.

As an illustration, should all voting members from SCCG be present and four voting 

members form SCC be present, then four votes will be allocated to SCCG members and four 

votes allocated to SCC members. All four of the SCC members will vote and the four votes 

ascribed to  CCG members would be determined as follows:

 Clinical Director of Partnerships/Neighbourhood Lead;

 Chief Accountable Officer;

 Clinical Director for Transformation; and

 Chief Finance Officer.

Page 8



A vote will be carried by a simple majority.

Should a vote be tied, the process will be to take the issue outside of the meeting to obtain 

further detail/information relevant to the decision in hand. There will be no casting vote to 

resolve such deadlock. The issue will then be brought back to the next meeting of the 

committee with a clear recommendation for approval or alternatively the matter will be 

escalated to the Health and Care Commissioning Board. Where the matter under 

consideration is a decision of the Committee acting as a committee of the Governing Body of 

SCCG, the decision will be escalated to the Health and Care Commissioning Board for 

consideration of the Health and Care Commissioning Board acting as a committee of the 

Governing Body of SCCG.

However, before a vote can be considered the majority of voting members from both partner 

organisations who would be entitled to participate in the relevant vote (having applied the 

balancing mechanism above to ensure equality of votes between the organisations as 

described above) must have agreed that it is appropriate to determine the issue in this 

manner.  Before choosing to put the issue to a vote, the Committee may instead ask for 

further work to be undertaken on the issue to explore, clarify, mitigate or minimise any 

concerns. The Committee may ask for specific individuals who may or may not be part of 

this Committee to discuss the issue further to try to find a suitable resolution on the issue.  

The issue would then be brought back to a future Committee meeting.  

Where a decision cannot be made through consensus and it is not acceptable to undertake 

further work or discussion on the issue outside of the Committee meeting or put the issue to 

a vote, the issue will be referred back to the Health and Care Commissioning Board.  Where 

the matter under consideration is a decision of the Committee acting as a committee of the 

Governing Body of SCCG, the decision will be escalated to the Health and Care 

Commissioning Board for consideration of the Health and Care Commissioning Board acting 

as a committee of the Governing Body of SCCG.

Either Partner may, notwithstanding the provisions of these Terms of Reference, make any Urgent 

Decision (as defined below) that would otherwise be taken by the Committee, themselves. This is 

provided for in the Partnership Agreement.

Page 9



Where either Partner makes an Urgent Decision it shall report such Urgent Decision to the Committee 

at its next meeting together with an explanation of:

 what the decision was;

 why it was deemed an Urgent Decision; and

 any implications of such Urgent Decision on the Partnership Arrangements.

Where either Partner considers that the other Partner’s justification for making an Urgent Decision is 

not reasonable or not substantiated and/or if the Partners cannot agree as to the implications of any 

Urgent Decision on the Partnership Arrangements, then either Partner may refer any such matter to 

the Disputes Procedure under the Partnership Agreement.

“Urgent Decision” means a decision by either Partner made in relation to any decision that 

would otherwise be a Commissioning Decision to be made under the Partnership 

Arrangements where the making of such decision by that Partner falls within the statutory 

powers of that Partner (otherwise than as supplemented by any flexibility accessible by 

virtue of Section 75 NHSA 2006) and can be justified as an urgent and/or emergency 

decision under the CCG’s Standing Orders or Standing Financial Instructions or under the 

CCG’s constitution or as urgent and/or emergency decision under the Council’s constitution 

(as applicable).

For the avoidance of doubt, decisions taken by individual officers of SCC or SCCG or 

individual SCC Members, whether taken within the venue of the Board or elsewhere, are not 

subject to the above rules on ‘Quorum, Decision-making, Voting and Urgent Decisions’.

Responsibilities and Behaviour

Members of the Committee have a collective responsibility for its operation. They will 

participate in discussion, review evidence and provide objective expert input to the best of 

their knowledge and ability, and endeavour to reach a collective view.  

Members of the Committee will behave in a manner consistent with the Core Principles 

outlined in Section 2 of these Terms of Reference and will adhere to the behaviours 

highlighted in the Nolan Principles, recognising that the success of the work programme will 

depend upon relationships and an environment of integrity, trust, collaboration and 

innovation.

Specific reference will be paid to both organisations’ core values:

NHS Salford CCG:

 Collaborative;

Salford City Council:

 Pride;

Page 10



 Innovative: and 

 Act with integrity.

 Passion;

 People; and

 Personal Responsibility.

Decision Making Authority

The Committee has delegated decision making authority of up to £1m.

Decisions Reserved to Partner Organisations and the Health and Care Commissioning 
Board

Whilst the areas which are ‘reserved matters’ are recognised, it will be critical that the 

Committee has a clear mandate and sufficient delegated authority to take forward 

commissioning decisions falling within these Terms of Reference without requiring separate 

approvals at each stage in the process. 

Whilst the Committee will act as a responsible body for integrated commissioning for 

children (in line with relevant statutory responsibilities), it will work alongside the Children’s 

Advisory Board and the Health and Wellbeing Board, recognising the latter’s role in setting 

city wide strategy and promoting integrated care and partnerships.

The work of the Committee will be subject to review by the Children’s Scrutiny Panel and 

audit arrangements of both SCC and SCCG, where appropriate. 

4. Public, service user and patient involvement

The Committee will ensure that commissioning activities include appropriate service 

user/patient, carer and public involvement in line with SCC’s and SCCG’s respective duties.

5. Conflicts of Interest / Codes of Conduct / Transparency

Members will be aware of what may constitute a Conflict of Interest under their own 

organisation’s Conflict of Interest Policies, and must ensure that any such Conflicts of 

Interest are formally disclosed to the Committee and will ensure they are subsequently 

managed in adherence with their organisations’ respective Conflict of Interest Policies. In 

addition, appropriate Codes of Conduct will be followed at all times by members of the 

Committee alongside adherence to the Nolan Principles and compliance with any statutory 

bar on participation and/or voting in particular circumstances.

Page 11



The Committee will formally record its deliberations within relevant minutes. Such minuting 

will be undertaken by the designated officer support provided by SCC, alongside the 

management of paperwork and version control. 

Depending upon the topic under discussion and the nature of a conflict of interest disclosed 

or identified, the member may be:

 Allowed to remain in the meeting and contribute to the discussion;

 Allowed to remain in the meeting and contribute to the discussion but leave the 

meeting at the point of decision; or

 Asked to leave the meeting for the duration of the item under consideration.

In relation to rights of access to information, including the publication/availability of agendas, 

reports, background documents and minutes, and public attendance at meetings, the 

Committee shall comply with the Public Bodies (Admission to Meetings) Act 1960 and shall 

apply rules equivalent to those of Part VA of the Local Government Act 1972 (“the 1972 

Act”). Such rights of access to information may be limited where the Committee considers 

“confidential information” or “exempt information”, in a manner equivalent to that provided for 

by the 1972 Act.

In relation to decisions that would meet the criteria for a “key decision” under SCC’s 

Constitution, additional publication requirements will apply in line with those set out in that 

Constitution.

6. Frequency of Meetings

Meetings will ordinarily be scheduled on a bi-monthly basis. 

The Co-Chair(s) of the Committee may call extraordinary meetings at their discretion. A 

minimum of five clear working days’ notice will be required.

7. Reporting

The Committee will be accountable to the Health and Care Commissioning Board, which will 

receive regular written reports from the Committee.

8. Policy and Best Practice

Page 12



The Committee will apply best practice in its deliberations and in making any 

recommendations. It will conduct its business in accordance with national guidance and 

relevant codes of conduct and good governance practice.

9. Review of Terms of Reference

These Terms of Reference will be formally reviewed by SCC and SCCG at the date below 

and amended following such review, such amendment being recorded in writing and signed 

by both parties. Alternatively they may be amended by mutual agreement in writing between 

both partners at any time to reflect changes in circumstances which may arise. Any 

amendment of these Terms of Reference that would require a corresponding amendment of 

any other provision of the Partnership Agreement and/or would create any conflict or 

inconsistency with any other provision of the Partnership Agreement shall only be valid if 

agreed as a Variation (as defined in the Partnership Agreement) of the Partnership 

Agreement (together with all corresponding consequential amendments necessary in the 

provisions of the Partnership Agreement). 

Terms of Reference Agreed (Date):  March 2019

Review Date:  March 2020

Page 13



Integrated Health and Care Fund : Pooled 
Budget

Integrated Health and Care Fund 
: Aligned Budgets

In View

Children’s 
Commissioning 
Committee

 Safeguarding (excl Safeguarding Board, 
Independent Reviewing Officers and Child 
Protection Coordinators

 Specialist Services
o Looked After Children* (excl Regional 

Adoption Agency and Barton Moss 
Secure Unit)

o Children in Need and Child Protection
o Localities*

 SEN Access and Inclusion
o Complex Needs
o Youth Service*
o Partnerships (excluding contracts and 

commissioning team)
- Commissioned Services (Respite, 

Short Breaks and Speech and 
language)

- Commissioned Childrens Homes
- Education Welfare Service
- CAMHS

o Asset Management and Delivery 
(excluding Schools PFI and Schools 
ICT contracts)
- School Organisation Team
- School Admissions Team
- Sites and Properties
- Vacant Properties

 Surgical Specialities of 
Hospital Contracts 

 Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)
o High Needs Block
o Early Years Block
o Schools Block
o Schools Individual Schools 

Budget (ISB)
 Children’s and Families Advisory 

Service
 Safeguarding

o Safeguarding Board
o Independent Reviewing Officers 
o Child Protection Coordinators

 Specialist Services
o Youth Offending Service
o Regional Adoption Agency
o Barton Moss Secure Unit

 SEN Access and Inclusion
o Partnerships – Contracts and 

Commissioning Team
o Complex Needs Inclusion 

(EMTAS)
 Education and Helping Families

o Skills and Work Team
o Raising Participation Team
o Early Years – Starting Life Well

P
age 14



 Education and Helping Families
o School Provider Arm
o Transforming Learning
o Early Years – Early Intervention
o Skills and Work / Careers (excluding 

Skills and Work and Raising 
Participation Teams)

o Helping Families*
o Resources and Investment

 Central Services / Support 
(insurance, SLA’s finance/ICT/ 
legal etc, teachers pension 
increases act payments)

o Children's Administration
 Specific Grants

o Pupil Premium Grant
o Universal Infant Free School Meals 

Grant
o Schools other (e.g. PE, School 

Improvement)
 Public health 0-19 Services (0-5 and 

School Nursing)
 Children Services - Placements
 Child and Adolescent Mental Health
 Community Services
 Children's Continuing Care
 Paediatric Medical Specialties of Hospital 

Contracts 
 Maternity Specialities of Hospital 

Contracts

*  Includes contribution from public health

P
age 15



SCHEDULE 4 

Retained Decisions

1. A Retained Decision shall include any decision that due to a requirement of Law 

must be made by an Officer (or SCC Member) or their delegatee.

2. For the avoidance of doubt and without limitation to the generality of the provision 

set out at paragraph 1 of this Schedule 4, the Partners acknowledge that such 

Retained Decisions include decisions that as a requirement of Law must be made 

by the Council’s:  

a. SCC Strategic Director of People (as Director of Children’s Services and 

Director of Adult Social Care;

b. SCC Executive Member for Children’s Services, SCC Director of Public 

Health;

and such officer’s nominated officers delegated to take such decisions.

3. A Retained Decision shall include  any decisions indicated in any TOR as to be 

made by an individual Officer.

4. A Retained Decision shall include  decisions related to:

a.  Individual child placement and care decisions, including initial 

placements, variations to care packages, and review / termination of care 

packages;

b. the status of children;

c.  provision of support for Children and Families Pursuant to Part 111 

Children Act 1989;

d.  secure accommodation for children;

e. the sufficiency, qualifications and caseloads of the Council’s social care 

work workforce; and

f. the preparation for Ofsted visits and consequential inspection and 

consequential actions

Page 16



SCHEDULE 5 

DECISION MATRIX

Page 17



Responsibility Scope of Commissioning Decisions 

Note: All Retained Decisions are reserved to the 

relevant Officer

Level 1 CCG: Governing Body

Council: City Mayor

● Determine the scope and size of the IHCF for 

each Financial Year

● Determine each Approved Budget, 

(Children’s, Adults’, and Primary Care) 

● Determine the Pooled Budget for each 

Financial Year

● Approve any planned or in year variations in 

the IHCF or Pooled Budget that would require 

the overall size of the  IHCF to be changed

● Approve the Partnership Agreement including 

the Financial Framework and any Variation

● Approve all investment and disinvestment 

plans within the Integrated Health and Care 

Fund  that exceed £1m for individual service 

lines (with the exception of decisions within 

the scope of the PCCC)

● Approve applications for and investment of 

external funding awards and associated 

service models for funding over £1m

● Approve any decisions linked to the IHCF, 

that are novel or contentious, or would 

materially impact on the interests of either  

Partner

Level 2 Health and Care 

Commissioning Board 

● Set overall health and social care 

commissioning strategy, including relating to 

financial, performance, and quality assurance 

and improvement matters

● Approve any in year variations between any 

of the three Approved Funds within the 

Integrated Fund (Children’s, Adults’, and 

Primary Care) whether within the Pooled 

Budget or wider ICHF within the overall 

Page 18



financial ceiling of the  IHCF for the relevant 

Financial Year

● Make decisions that cannot be agreed at any 

Committee excluding any Reserved Matters 

excluding any Retained Decisions and 

excluding any decisions within the scope of 

the PCCC.

● Provide oversight to Committees to ensure 

that the needs of people transferring from 

childrens’ to adult’s services are met.

Level 3 Children’s 

Commissioning 

Committee (CCC)

Adults’ 

Commissioning 

Committee (ACC)

Primary Care 

Commissioning 

Committee (PCCC)

● Approve integrated health and care service 

models, service specification and associated 

funding envelope for  Services within the 

scope of that Committee 

● Set improvement targets and trajectories, for 

Services within the scope of that Committee 

● Approve business cases for investment or 

disinvestment up to £1m for individual 

Services within the scope of that Committee.

For the PCCC there is no upper/ceiling value 

to decision making authority

● Approve applications for and investment of 

external funding awards and associated 

service models for funding of up to £1m in 

respect of Services within the scope of that 

Committee 

● Approve in year non recurrent investment or 

variation in the Approved Budget for the 

Services within the scope of that Committee, 

providing such investment and variations are 

within the limits of the relevant Approved 

Budget

● Approve changes to payment mechanisms 

and contractual arrangements (subject to any 

Reserved Matter) relating to Services within 

Page 19



the scope of that Committee 

Make decisions that cannot be agreed by 

consensus of Officers at Level 4, excluding 

any Retained Decisions

Level 4 CCG: Chief 

Accountable 

Officer/Chief Finance 

Officer 

Council: Executive 

Director People/ 

Director Public Health 

/ Chief Finance Officer 

● Make recommendations to the relevant 

Committee, taking account of advice from the 

relevant Advisory Board (if any), regarding 

changes to service models and funding

● Approve service level variations and changes 

within the context of the agreed service 

model and overall financial ceiling of the 

relevant Approved Budget, up to the financial 

delegations to individuals set out in Partner 

organisations’ schemes of delegation 

● Approve applications for and investment of 

external funding awards and associated 

service models relevant to any Services up to 

the financial delegations to such individuals 

set out in Partner organisations’ schemes of 

delegation  

● Without prejudice to the ability of the relevant 

Officer to make a decision falling within this 

Level/a Retained Decision, where the 

corresponding Officer(s) at the other Partner 

does not agree with the approach to be 

adopted they may escalate the matter 

upwards to the relevant Committee for 

consideration

Level 5 CCG:  Director

Council: Assistant 

Director 

● Approve service level investment variations 

within the context of the agreed service 

model and overall financial ceiling of the 

relevant Approved Budget, up to the financial 

delegations to individuals set out in Parent 

organisations’ schemes of delegation 

● Without prejudice to the ability of the relevant 

Page 20



 

Officer to make a decision falling within this 

Level/a Retained Decision, where the 

corresponding Officer(s) at the other Partner 

does not agree with the approach to be 

adopted they may escalate the matter 

upwards to the relevant Officers of the 

Partners described at  Level 4 for 

consideration. 

● Make decisions on individual care packages 

where this is a Commissioning Decision and 

not a decision to be taken by Operational 

Staff.

Level 6 Advisory Board ● Provide advice to Officers, Committees, the 

Health and Care Commissioning Board and 

the Partners (together and separately) as 

applicable.

Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



                     

Date of Meeting 
Agenda Item No  

                                                          

Page 1 of 5

SALFORD CITY COUNCIL AND NHS SALFORD CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP
 
CHILDREN’S COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE

AGENDA ITEM NO

Item for Decision/Assurance/Information  

CHILDREN’S COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE: 01 MAY 2019

REPORT OF: Joint Head of Planning and Performance

DATE OF PAPER: 15 April 2019
SUBJECT: Business Planning 2019-20 update

IN CASE OF QUERY 
PLEASE CONTACT:

Emma Reid
Joint Head of Planning and Performance
NHS Salford CCG and Salford City Council

PURPOSE OF PAPER:

This report presents the Salford Health and Care Commissioning ‘plan on a page’ as part 
of Salford CCG’s Annual Business Plan for 2019-20 for information and comment.

Salford CCG’s Business Plan for 2019-20 is attached to this paper at Appendix 1; it 
outlines high level aims for each of the key delivery workstreams from 1st April 2019 until 
31st March 2020 to ensure the CCG and City Council play a leading role in delivering the 
Salford Locality Plan for local people.  Key delivery workstreams outlined in the plan 
include:

 Quality, safety, innovation and research
 Primary Care
 Integrated community care services for adults
 Children’s and maternity services
 Enabling transformation

Members of the Children’s Commissioning Committee are asked to:

1. Note Salford Clinical Commissioning Group’s (CCG) Annual Business Plan 2019-20 
for information; paying particular attention to the high level aims outlined in the 
Children’s and Maternity Services workstream which have been jointly developed 
with colleagues from Salford City Council leadership teams and service groups.

2. Provide any comments on this plan that can be incorporated in to the next version 
that is scheduled for governing body approval in May 2019.

3. Note that this plan will be translated in to team and individual objectives over the 
coming weeks; and work prioritised accordingly.

Page 25

Agenda Item 4



                     

Date of Meeting 
Agenda Item No  

                                                          

Page 2 of 5

Further explanatory information required

HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS?

Annual business plans detail the clear 
contribution the City Council and CCG 
makes to resident health and wellbeing.

WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW CAN 
THEY BE MITIGATED?
 

No risks to consider.

WHAT EQUALITY-RELATED RISKS 
MAY ARISE AS A RESULT OF THIS 
PAPER?  HOW WILL THESE BE 
MITIGATED?

Delivery of changes to services within 
business plans are subject to appropriate 
equality impact assessments.

DOES THIS PAPER HELP ADDRESS 
ANY EXISTING HIGH OR EXTREME 
RISKS?  IF SO WHAT ARE THEY AND 
HOW DOES THIS PAPER REDUCE 
THEM?

None.

PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY POSSIBLE 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
ASSOCIATED WITH THIS PAPER.

None.

PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY CURRENT 
SERVICES OR ROLES THAT MAY BE 
AFFECTED BY ISSUES WITHIN THIS 
PAPER:

All Council and CCG service groups.

Page 26



Date of Meeting 
Agenda Item No  

Page 3 of 5

Document Development

Process Yes No Not
Applicable

Comments and Date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report) Outcome

Public Engagement
(Please detail the method  ie survey, event, consultation)

X

Clinical Engagement
(Please detail the method  ie survey, event, consultation)

X Clinical engagement has 
informed CCG commissioning 
intentions and development of 
business plans across health 
and social care.

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality 
Analysis (EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and how 
these will be managed) 
Legal Advice Sought X

Presented to any other groups or committees, 
including Partnership Groups
(Please specify in comments)

X Following the publication of 
NHS planning guidance 
updates have been taken to 
relevant partnership groups. 
High level business plans have 
been shared through 
commissioning committees.

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 
work.

P
age 27



Date of Meeting 
Agenda Item No

Page 4 of 5

Business Planning 2019-20 update

1  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Salford CCG’s Business Plan for 2019-20 is attached to this paper at Appendix 1; it outlines 
high level aims for each of the key delivery workstreams from 1st April 2019 until 31st March 
2020 to ensure the CCG and City Council play a leading role in delivering the Salford 
Locality Plan for local people.  Key delivery workstreams outlined in the plan include:

 Quality, safety, innovation and research
 Primary Care
 Integrated community care services for adults
 Children’s and maternity services
 Enabling transformation

Members of the Children’s Commissioning Committee are asked to:

1. Note Salford Clinical Commissioning Group’s (CCG) Annual Business Plan 2019-20 
for information; paying particular attention to the high level aims outlined in the 
Children’s and Maternity Services workstream which have been jointly developed 
with colleagues from Salford City Council leadership teams and service groups.

2. Provide any comments on this plan that can be incorporated in to the next version 
that is scheduled for governing body approval in May 2019.

3. Note that this plan will be translated in to team and individual objectives over the 
coming weeks; and work prioritised accordingly.

NB: Sections 2-5 should be completed as required.

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 NHS England Chief Executive, Simon Stevens, launched the NHS Long Term Plan 
(LTP) on 7th January 2019.  As part of Salford’s local business planning process, 
Salford Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) has considered this plan in detail, 
including undertaking a local self-assessment and gap analysis with regard to what 
more we need to do to in Salford to drive the delivery of the commitments given 
within the long term plan for the people of Salford. 

2.2 There is much more to do across the city in terms of delivering our locality 
vision, priorities and clinical outcomes in 2019-20. However, Salford is in a 
very strong position against the majority of the themes outlined within the LTP; with a 
clear history of investment in mental health services and in primary care services; a 
drive to move services from acute to community settings and with a clear focus on 
early identification in everything from cancer diagnosis to childhood 
development difficulties. 

2.3 2019-20 marks the third year that Salford City Council and Salford CCG have 
collaboratively developed strong prioritised business plans.   Salford CCG’s 
Business Plan for 2019-20 has been developed using detailed needs 
assessment, population growth estimates, knowledge of pressures in the system; 
and quality, safety and performance intelligence within the services we commission.  
It also integrates all national expectations for the NHS, including the NHS Long 

Page 28



Date of Meeting 
Agenda Item No

Page 5 of 5

Term Plan, to ensure we continue to keep Salford at the forefront of delivering 
‘outstanding’ services to patients.

2.4 Working as a leading partner in the Greater Manchester Health and Social 
Care Partnership and also locally with Salford City Council the plan includes our 
joint working to ensure patients in Salford benefit from the highest quality joined up 
care.  It is structured in line with the integrated commissioning arrangements 
with Salford City Council, as we decide together how best to spend the almost 
£600m health and social care funding to most improve health and wellbeing for local 
residents.

2.5 Salford CCG’s Governing Body (GB) approved the first draft of the Annual Business 
Plan for 2019-20 on 27th March 2019.  A final version will be shared with GB 
members in May 2019.  It should be noted that detailed business plans are still being 
finalised with colleagues from the CCG and Salford City Council and may be subject 
to in-year change as further guidance / direction emerges from the Greater 
Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership.

3. KEY DECISION
No.

4. LEGAL ADVICE
No.

5. RECOMMENDATION

Members of the Children’s Commissioning Committee are asked to:

1. Note Salford Clinical Commissioning Group’s (CCG) Annual Business Plan 2019-
20 for information; paying particular attention to the high level aims outlined in the 
Children’s and Maternity Services workstream which have been jointly developed 
with colleagues from Salford City Council leadership teams and service groups.

2. Provide any comments on this plan that can be incorporated in to the next 
version that is scheduled for governing body approval in May 2019.

3. Note that this plan will be translated in to team and individual objectives over the 
coming weeks; and work prioritised accordingly.

EMMA REID
JOINT HEAD OF PLANNING AND PERFORMANCE

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



NHS Salford Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG)

Annual Business Plan 2019-20

Page 31



 

Annual business plan 2019-20 2

Foreword from the Chair and Chief Accountable Officer

It is an exciting time in Salford, a time of great economic and population growth.  With such opportunity 
comes a responsibility for the NHS and others to work with local people to nurture and grow the city’s 
health.  

Salford remains a city of contrasts, with some of the most prosperous and deprived wards in the country. 
From a health perspective our challenges are significant - 70% of our patients live in highly deprived areas 
and we know that people in poorer areas of the city live up to 14 years less than those in our richer 
neighbourhoods. We have 12,000 children in poverty and nearly 10% of the working population is long-term 
unemployed.
 
With ongoing pressures to Local Authority and NHS funding we recognise the need to develop radical new 
ways of working with our partners, residents and vibrant voluntary and community sector to make the best 
use of the city’s collective resources. At the heart of our collective approach is our ambitious plan to 
transform Health and Wellbeing – The Salford Locality Plan.

The Salford Locality Plan is the ‘blueprint’ for our health and social care system.  The joint working it 
describes is already having a significant impact to improve population health. 

The NHS Salford Clinical Commissioning Group’s (CCG) Business Plan for 2019/20 has been developed 
using detailed needs assessment, population growth estimates, knowledge of pressures in the system, and 
quality, safety and performance within the services we commission.  It also integrates all national 
expectations for the NHS, including the NHS Long Term Plan, to ensure we continue to keep Salford at the 
forefront of delivering ‘outstanding’ services to patients.

Working as a leading partner in the Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership and also 
locally with Salford City Council this plan includes our joint working to ensure patients in Salford benefit 
from the highest quality joined up care.  It is structured in line with our integrated commissioning with 
Salford City Council, as we decide together how best to spend the almost £600m health and social care 
funding to most improve health and wellbeing for local residents.

It is not the purpose of this document to detail all of the services we commission and how they will be 
delivered; it contains our priorities for key delivery workstreams from 1st April 2019 until 31st March 2020 to 
ensure the CCG plays a leading role in delivering the Salford Locality Plan for local people.

                                                                                                

Dr Tom Tasker Anthony Hassall
Chair Chief Accountable Officer

Page 32

http://www.salfordccg.nhs.uk/salford-locality-plan
http://www.salfordccg.nhs.uk/salford-locality-plan


 

Annual business plan 2019-20 3

Locality Plan - Vision and Outcomes
Vision
Start, live and age well in Salford - Citizens will get the best start in life, will go on to have a fulfilling and 
productive adulthood, will be able to manage their health well into their older age and die in a dignified manner in 
a setting of their choosing. People across Salford will experience health on a parallel with the current “best” in 
Greater Manchester (GM), and the gaps between communities will be narrower than they have ever been 
before.

The overall aim of the Locality Plan is to “improve health and wellbeing across the city and remove health 
inequalities” in Salford.  Our approach to achieving this prioritises prevention, self-care and public health, whilst 
creating integrated, effective and financially sustainable health and care services.  It acknowledges the 
importance of both mental and physical health in achieving our vision, and aligns with the priorities of the Salford 
Partnership; Wellbeing, Growth and Social Value.

Our business plan summarises the work led by partners in Salford to contribute to the delivery of the Locality 
Plan and improve health and wellbeing outcomes for the population of Salford. These were developed 
collectively with residents and partners and are summarised below:

Starting Well - Children will have the best start in life and continue to develop well during their early years.

• I am a child who is physically and emotionally healthy, feel safe and able to live life in a positive way.
• I am a young person who will achieve their potential in life, with great learning, and employment 

opportunities.
• I am as good a parent as I can be.

Living Well - Citizens will achieve and maintain a sense of wellbeing by leading a healthy lifestyle supported by 
resilient communities.

• I am able to take care of my own health and wellbeing, and am able to manage the challenges that life gives 
me.

• My lifestyle helps me to stop any Long Term Condition or disability getting worse, and keeps the impact of 
this condition or disability from affecting my life.

• I lead a happy, fulfilling and purposeful life.

Ageing Well - Older people will maintain wellbeing and can access high quality health and care, using it 
appropriately.

• I am an older person who is looking after my health and delaying the need for care.
• If I need it, I will be able to access high quality care and support.
• I know that when I die, this will happen in the best possible circumstances.

For further information about the Salford Locality Plan please visit http://www.salfordccg.nhs.uk/salford-locality-
plan.  

Delivery of our Locality Plan is in the context of the Greater Manchester Strategy for Health and Social Care. 
Locality leaders and staff will continue to play an active role in leading on a range of Greater Manchester wide 
transformational workstreams.  For example, improving specialist care, breast services, neuro-rehabilitation, 
mental health, dementia, dermatology and hyper acute / community stroke services.  In addition the CCG Chair 
is also the Chair of the Joint Commissioning Board.  This Greater Manchester level work is fundamental and 
complementary to delivery of our Locality Plan within Salford.

Page 33

http://www.salfordccg.nhs.uk/salford-locality-plan
http://www.salfordccg.nhs.uk/salford-locality-plan


Annual business plan 2019-20 4

Strategic Plan on a Page 2019-20

P
age 34



Annual business plan 2019-20 5

Key Delivery Workstream:  Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research

Executive Lead Francine Thorpe

Clinical Lead Jeremy Tankel

Lay Lead Alison Kelly

CCG Aims 2019-20

 Implement the year 2 actions arising from the 2018-20 Integrated Quality and Safety Strategy. 
 Review and amend quality assurance processes in light of revised commissioning arrangements ensuring 

that quality governance is embedded.
 Implement the revised arrangements for Safeguarding Children. 
 Refresh the Research and Innovation Strategy.
 Embed the system-wide learning around safety and safety improvement. 
 Fully implement and embed paper-light processes in continuing health care (CHC).
 Implement actions arising from the improvement collaboratives around handover.
 Develop the Care Homes Excellence Programme and Quality Improvement Network to continue to drive 

improvement in the Care Homes sector.
 Develop quality and safety improvement programmes to support GP practices in local improvement. 
 Secure system-wide improvements in the safety of medicines. 
 Refresh the GP Practice Workforce Development Strategy.

Other existing or developing delivery plans or strategies:

 Research and Innovation Strategy
 City Wide Medicines Strategy

 Quality & Safety Strategy
 Salford Standard

Performance Measures:

The measures outlined below were used to monitor performance in 2018-19 and have been included for 
information.  However, it should be noted that Salford CCG is currently working to further develop and improve 
its performance monitoring and reporting arrangements by redesigning the corporate delivery dashboard and 
performance reporting framework for 2019-20 in line with the new integrated commissioning governance 
structures.

Core Indicators:
Mixed Sex Accommodation Breaches
Number of patients not treated within 28 days of last minute elective cancellation (SRFT)
Referral to Treatment Times (RTT):  Incomplete Pathways (>52 Weeks)
Trolley Waits in A&E (>12 hours) (SRFT)

Other key performance indicators:
Healthcare Acquired Infections – MRSA and CDIFF
Number of Escherichia coli (E. coli) bacteraemia (CCG)
Reduction in the Trimethoprim: Nitrofurantoin prescribing ratio
Number of Trimethoprim items prescribed to patients aged 70 years or greater
NHS Continuing Healthcare (CHC) assessments take place in an acute hospital setting

Page 35



Annual business plan 2019-20 6

Key Delivery Workstream:  Integrated Community Care Services (Adult Services)

Executive Lead Karen Proctor; Charlotte Ramsden

Clinical Lead Tom Regan

Lay Lead Paul Newman

Integrated Commissioning Aims 2019-20 (Salford CCG and Salford City Council)
 Work with partners to collaboratively redesign neighbourhood health and social care delivery models, 

considering emerging evaluation findings from transformation projects.
 Redesign the proactive care model to ensure the benefits delivered from MDGs are maintained, with both 

improved efficiency and alignment to other neighbourhood developments, such as Enhanced Care.
 Set out Salford’s strategic approach in establishing new models of Extra Care service to meet our strategic 

objectives around reducing reliance on care home provision and improving quality and outcomes.
 Oversight and assurance of the new Home Care model in meeting the needs of service users and providing 

ethical terms of employment.
 Undertake identified reviews of community services and locally commissioned services. 
 Scope options for the expansion of Personal Health Budgets, make recommendations on a model to broaden 

the current offer and establish test cases.
 Embed the new outcomes based contracting model for community service bundles.
 Deliver enhanced voluntary sector capacity and develop/implement a Neighbourhood approach to Social 

Prescribing.
 Contribute to developing a Locality Inequalities Plan.
 Implement plans relating to cancer screening, early detection and prevention.
 Implement anticipated changes to the NHS Health Check and initiatives to prevent vascular disease.
 Fully mobilise the Lung Checks Pilot.
 Respond to the national screening programmes & diagnostics review.
 Design & Deliver, in partnership with SRFT, an Outpatients Redesign Programme.
 Support Greater Manchester CCG’s to ensure effective specialist (i.e. Tier 3 and 4) weight management 

pathways are in place.
 Support and engage with GM in relation to the GM Cancer Plan.
 Provide advice and support on behalf of GM CCG Directors, to GM projects for Neuro-rehabilitation and 

Breast services.
 Assess urgent care services and develop and implement mid-term and long-term action plans for priority 

areas.
 Support a review of breast services across the Bolton, Salford and Wigan Partnership (BS&WP) sector.
 Support the development and commissioning of a local Advice and Guidance system.
 Roll out a GM Dermatology model framework, assessment criteria for key conditions and review of GM wide 

advice and guidance.
 Ensure the Healthier Together model for General Surgery and Acute Emergency Medicine is delivered in line 

with GM timescales.
 Explore new models of mental health care, learning from exemplar models of good practice (e.g. Lambeth 

Model) identifying opportunities for development and transformation in Salford.
 Review issues, process and capacity regarding out of area placements and inform recommendations for 

service development.
 Review the employment pathway and pilot approaches for people with serious mental health problems.
 Ensure that IAPT provision has a perinatal frame of mind to meet perinatal mental health duties.
 Monitor IAPT capacity and pathway to meet the increased access rate and waiting times.
 Improve pathways between IAPT services and key physical health services such as Health Psychology.
 Co-ordinate the approach for parent-infant mental health to provide early intervention to improve attachment 

and bonding.
 Review Home Based Treatment provision in line with national and GM expectations.
 Review adult mental health care pathways including residential care, supported accommodation and crisis 

support.
 Develop diagnostic and post diagnostic services for Autistic Spectrum Conditions in line with national policy 

and standards.
 Improve supported employment opportunities for adults with learning disabilities 
 Review current Shared Lives provision in Salford to meet GM aspirations to increase the opportunities 

Page 36



Annual business plan 2019-20 7

available.
 Refresh the Salford Carers Strategy informed by a carers needs assessment and in line with national and 

GM strategic objectives.

Other existing or developing delivery plans or strategies:

 Mental Health Strategy
 Salford Locality Plan
 Healthier Together
 GM Cancer Plan
 Salford Suicide Prevention Strategy

 Carer’s Strategy
 National Diabetes Prevention Programme (NDPP)
 Bolton, Salford and Wigan Partnership (BS&WP)
 Northern Care Alliance

Performance Measures:
The measures outlined below were used to monitor performance in 2018-19 and have been included for 
information.  However, it should be noted that Salford CCG is currently working to further develop and improve its 
performance monitoring and reporting arrangements by redesigning the corporate delivery dashboard and 
performance reporting framework for 2019-20 in line with the new integrated commissioning governance 
structures.

Core Indicators:
% of diabetes patients have achieved all the NICE recommended treatment targets
% of people with diabetes diagnosed for less than a year who attended a structured education course
Cancers diagnosed at early stage
Diabetes education and checks
NWAS Ambulance Response Programme 
Delayed Transfers of Care - Bed Days (SRFT)
RTT: Incomplete pathways (<18 weeks)
Diagnostic Test Waiting Times
A&E Waiting Times 
Cancer Patients - 2 Week Waits (Urgent GP Referral)
Cancer Patients – 2 week wait for breast symptoms (where cancer was not initially suspected)
Cancer Waits - 31 Days (All Cancers)
Cancer Waits - 31 Days (Surgery)
Cancer Waits - 31 Days (Drugs)
Cancer Waits - 31 Days (Radiotherapy)
Cancer Waits - 62 Days (Urgent GP Referral)
Cancer Waits - 62 Days (Screening Service)
Cancer Waits - 62 Days (Decision to Upgrade)
Delayed transfers of care, per 100,000 population (aged 18+)
One year survival from all cancers
Patients diagnosed with dementia whose care plan has been reviewed in a face-to-face review in the preceding 
12 months
Dementia (aged 65 and over)
IAPT Recovery Rate (CCG) – PUBLISHED
IAPT Waiting Times - 6 Week Wait Ended Referrals (CCG) - PUBLISHED
IAPT Waiting Times - 18 Week Wait Ended Referrals (CCG) - PUBLISHED
People experiencing a first EIP treated within two weeks of referral
Proportion of people with a learning disability on the GP register receiving an annual health check

Other key performance indicators:
Long Term support needs of older people (aged 65 and over) met by admissions to residential and nursing care 
homes
Number of personal health budgets that have been in place, at any point during the quarter, per 100,000 CCG 
population
Decrease alcohol related harm – Alcohol related hospital admissions 
Smoking cessation
Care Programme Approach (CCG)
Reliance on specialist inpatient care for people with a learning disability and/or autism
Completeness of the GP learning disability register
Mental health out of area placements
Mental health crisis team provision

Page 37



Annual business plan 2019-20 8

Key Delivery Workstream:  Primary Care

Executive Lead Karen Proctor

Clinical Lead Tom Regan

Lay Lead Brian Wroe

CCG Aims 2019-20
 Continue to deliver responsibilities for primary medical care commissioning as delegated by NHS England.
 Establish permanent contracts for patients currently cared for by “caretaker” GP practices
 Develop a local response to the new general practice 5 year contract framework. 
 Work with GP practices, the Local Medical Committee (LMC) and Salford Primary Care Together to 

implement Primary Care Networks.
 Plan for the Additional Roles Reimbursement Scheme.
 Respond to national plans regarding a Shared Savings scheme, once launched.
 Evaluate the Salford Wide Extended Access Pilot and implement new Extended Hours arrangement in line 

with new GP Contract Framework.
 Implement changes to the Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF).
 Evaluate the impact of the Primary Care Transformation schemes which support the ‘sustainable primary 

care’ priority of integrated care including Extended Access, GP Streaming, acute home visiting, 
neighbourhood working and care navigation.

 Implement new contract in Ordsall Neighbourhood.
 Embed monitoring and reporting arrangements for the new Salford Standard contract.
 Implement digital technology requirements of the new GP Contract Framework.
 Refresh the GP Practice Workforce Development Strategy. 
 Delivery the priorities in the Primary Care Estates programme of work.
 Embed the outcomes of the general practice capacity modelling programme of work.
 Continue to review and manage locally commissioned services (e.g. care of the homeless service and 

special allocation scheme). 
 Establish an overarching assurance framework for primary care.
Other existing or developing delivery plans or strategies:

 Salford Standard
 Primary Care Investment Agreement
 General Practice Commissioning Principles
 Quality and safety strategy

 National GP Contract Framework
 Primary Care workforce strategy
 Primary Care Estates programme
 GP Practice Workforce Development Strategy

Performance Measures:
The measures outlined below were used to monitor performance in 2018-19 and have been included for 
information.  However, it should be noted that Salford CCG is currently working to further develop and improve 
its performance monitoring and reporting arrangements by redesigning the corporate delivery dashboard and 
performance reporting framework for 2019-20 in line with the new integrated commissioning governance 
structures.

Core Indicators:
Salford wide extended access pilot (SWEAP) (evenings and weekends) at GP services – Local Data
Salford wide extended access pilot (SWEAP) (evenings and weekends) at GP services – Published Data
Antibiotics prescribed in Primary Care

Other key performance indicators:
Flu vaccination coverage targeted groups
Salford Standard Performance Indicators (quarterly and annual measures)

Page 38



Annual business plan 2019-20 9

Key Delivery Workstream:  Children’s and Maternity Services

Executive Lead Karen Proctor;  Charlotte Ramsden

Clinical Lead Wan Ley-Yeung

Lay Lead Alison Kelly

Integrated Commissioning Aims 2019-20 (Salford CCG and Salford City Council)

 Test a neighbourhood approach to management of Asthma, Diabetes, Epilepsy and Gastrointestinal 
infections in order to reduce avoidable hospital admissions.

 Further develop a joint approach to meeting the needs of children with special educational needs and 
disability (SEND) via co-commissioning and joint working including Neurodevelopmental work, 
personalisation, equipment, allied health provision, clinical services and diagnostic services.

 Further develop a system wide approach to prevention, early identification and treatment of emotional health 
and wellbeing (EHWB) needs across the life course and the city. 

 Develop a system wide approach to domestic abuse and identification and prevention of adverse childhood 
experiences (ACEs); and test new approaches in a specific neighbourhood. 

 Implement the new national models of good practice for reducing external placement of looked after children 
and children with SEND into educational and residential placements; and support children and young people 
back into provision in Salford.   

 Implement a new service specification within speech, language and communication needs (SLCN) treatment 
services to support wider integration with schools, youth offending services and early years settings.

 Implement the ‘Start Well’ population health programme including existing work streams around 
safeguarding and vulnerability (ACE), Thrive (EHWB), Starting Life Well (Parenting) Early Intervention and 
Prevention (SLCN).

 Oversee the management of the Greater Manchester population health priorities including Baby Clear 
(smoking cessation in Pregnancy) and the Oral Health Programme (tooth brushing scheme). 

 Support the implementation of the national ‘Better Births’ and ‘Saving Babies Lives’ policies, including 
reducing stillbirths and mother and child deaths.

 Co-ordinate the approach for parent-infant mental health to provide early intervention to improve attachment 
and bonding.

 Implement recommendations of children’s integrated care test cases for children and young people with 
disabilities and those requiring speech and communication support. 

 Widen choice and personalisation for pregnant women through the Maternity Pioneer Programme.
 Support continued development of Ingleside Birth Centre as a safe and comfortable environment for 

women to have a positive experience of child birth.

Other existing or developing delivery plans or strategies:

 Early help strategy 
 All age mental health strategy
 Education strategy
 Emerging children’s service model of practice

 CAMHS Transformation plan
 Employment and skills strategy
 Obesity strategy

Performance Measures:
The measures outlined below were used to monitor performance in 2018-19 and have been included for 
information.  However, it should be noted that Salford CCG is currently working to further develop and improve 
its performance monitoring and reporting arrangements by redesigning the corporate delivery dashboard and 
performance reporting framework for 2019-20 in line with the new integrated commissioning governance 
structures.

Core Indicators:
Improve access rate to, and waiting times of, Children and Young People’s Mental Health (CYPMH) Services
Women’s smoking status at the time of delivery
Waiting times for routine referrals to children and young people eating disorder services
Waiting times for urgent referrals to children and young people eating disorder services
Percentage of children waiting 18 weeks or less for a wheelchair
Child weight measurement and number of young people who are overweight

Page 39



Annual business plan 2019-20 10

Other key performance indicators:
Women’s’ experience of maternity services
Choices in maternity services

In addition to the above performance measures, Salford City Council and Salford CCG have developed a 0-25 
Outcomes Framework as outlined below.

Page 40



Annual business plan 2019-20 11

Key Delivery Workstream:  Enabling Transformation

Executive Lead Steve Dixon; Hannah Dobrowolska

Clinical Lead Tom Tasker

Lay Lead Edward Vitalis

CCG Aims 2019-20
 Refresh the Locality Plan for Salford’s health, care and wellbeing system.
 Embed and further develop integrated commissioning arrangements for health and social care between the 

CCG and Salford City Council. 
 Develop the business cases to support best value programmes identified in 2018/19 to deliver efficiencies 

and savings across Salford health and social care in 2019/20 and subsequent years.
 Ensure the CCG continues to meet its wide range of statutory duties, maintaining and improving its robust 

governance and performance management systems.
 Support the development of incentive payments across health and social care pathways enabling care to be 

delivered in the most appropriate setting. 
 Provide contract and finance support to GM and GM Health and Social Care Partnership to deliver the 

objectives of the GM Devolution Programme. 
 Lead the process to develop new payment and contract models for Salford. 
 Agree and implement the next phase of primary care digital first as outlined in the Long Term Plan.
 Continue with locality based IM&T strategy development  and delivery with all partners 
 Further develop us of business intelligence to strengthen decision making 
 Refresh the Locality Estate Strategy and further improve utilisation of space within the Salford estate.
 Deliver the Engagement, Inclusion and Development work plans for the CCG, along with the communications 

and engagement plans supporting the Locality Plan, Salford Together and Bolton, Salford, Wigan 
Partnership.

 Further improve staff and member engagement, building on the already high NHS Staff Survey and 360 
Stakeholder Survey results.

 Work as a key partner in the delivery of the Salford Equality Improvement Action Programme. 
 Deliver the Social Value work plan with a focus on Carbon Literacy, anchor institutions and taking action to 

support those living in poverty, including through promoting the Real Living Wage.
 Refresh the Locality Plan and review monitoring and reporting arrangements including programme 

management.
Other existing or developing delivery plans or strategies:

 Estates Strategy and Strategic Estates Plan
 Primary Care Estates Strategy
 Digital Innovation Schemes
 Communications and Engagement Strategy 
 Equality and Inclusion Strategy 

 Social Value Strategy 
 Organisational Development Strategy
 Salford Locality Plan
 Risk Management Strategy

Performance Measures:

 Contracting and financial performance monitoring
 Mandatory training rates
 Staff attendance rates
 Staff and stakeholder survey results
 CCG Improvement and Assessment (IAF) Quality of Leadership rating
 Financial statutory duties:

o Revenue - delivery of the CCG’s planned control total (which is breakeven for 2018/19).
o Cash management - Current guidance requires the cash balance at the end of the month to be 

less than 1.25% of the cash draw down for that month.
o Better Payment Practice Code (BPPC) - 95% of invoices paid within the agreed terms or within 

30 days if there are no specified terms.
o Running costs - manage within the CCG’s running cost allocation.

Page 41



Annual business plan 2019-20 12

Risks to the delivery of Salford CCG’s business plan for 2019-20

NHS Salford CCG’s Risk Management Strategy and Risk Management Framework details how our 
strategic programmes, key work programmes and activities are aligned and explains the method by which 
risks are assessed, scored, monitored and reported.

Our strategic priorities are the primary focus for risk identification and horizon scanning. Strategic risks are 
recorded in our strategic risk register which is held in the integrated business planning, performance and 
risk system. Operational risks are captured in specific programme and project risk registers across the 
organisation.

Details on the CCG’s risk appetite, risk assessment process, risk ownership and accountability and training 
and reporting arrangements can be found in the CCG’s latest Risk Management Strategy.

All strategic risks are subject to a bi-monthly review by executive leads and also by clinical and lay leads 
within the CCG’s Governing Body through the regular board assurance framework report.  This includes 
progress against our plans, risks and the latest performance breaches including plans for recovery.

The latest Strategic Risk Register heat map below (March 2019) shows the distribution of Strategic Risks 
across the CCG.   Salford’s full strategic risk register is available on request.

There are currenlty 2 risks rated as high, these relate to;

Achievement of national performance targets against constitutional 
standards and;
Cyber Security threat.

Each strategic risk has a comprehensive risk assessment including existing 
controls, gaps and assurances and any further risk treatment plans as required.

Salford CCG’s programme risk registers are available on request.

Page 42



                                       Part 1 – ITEM NO.

REPORT OF 
 LEAD MEMBER FOR CHILDREN’S AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S SERVICES

TO

CABINET 

ON
26TH MARCH 2019

TITLE:  
FOSTERING STRATEGY AND THE REVIEW OF ALLOWANCES

RECOMMENDATION

 The City Mayor is asked to agree an increase in foster carer allowances; 40% on the 
Skills element and 2% for carers on the Focus scheme.  

 The City Mayor is asked to support the use of a proportion of the one-off funding 
allocated by government in December to fund the first year of the cost. 

EXECTIVE SUMMARY

Salford foster carers care for the majority of Salford’s LAC population. They are provided 
with a weekly allowance to meet the costs of caring for the children in placement. This has 
not been increased for over 10 years and Salford are one of the lowest paying local 
authorities. This at a time when other LAs have increased payments to assist with 
recruitment and retention, and when Independent Fostering Agencies (IFAs) have increased 
in numbers in a competitive market. This paper makes a case for a 40% increase to the 
skills reward element of the allowance and a 2% rise for foster carers on the Focus 
Scheme. This will address Salford’s position in relation to other LAs, aid recruitment through 
offering a more attractive rate and evidence Salford’s commitment to support and retaining 
foster carers.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 

Key Decision – YES 

Page 43

Agenda Item 6



Current Situation

There are 226 fostering households approved by Salford. They care for 336 of the 574 
looked after children (at 31/03/18). 

In 2016/17 we approved 15 new households and 2017/18 we approved 10 households. This 
year we are on track to approve around 11 (There have been 8 to date and 3 are in 
assessment, likely to be approved before 31/03/19). In 2017/18 18 households left fostering, 
for a number of reasons. This pattern results in a diminishing number of foster carers and 
potential placements. We have 11 households where the main carer is between 65 and 78 
years of age. It is important that we are able to replace these as they make decisions about 
retiring from fostering. The majority of our carers (56%) are between 45 and 54 years old. It 
is imperative that we do all we can to retain the vast majority of these as well as our 
younger carers.

As referrals come through to the Fostering Service we are struggling to identify placements 
and therefore matching considerations are frequently compromised in order to identify an in 
house placement. The costs of children being placed with outside residential placements 
and Independent Fostering Agencies (IFAs) are well known, with the average cost of an IFA 
placement of £766 per week and residential of £3791 per week. In house carers are 
currently paid between £187 and £316 per child per week. In house foster carer recruitment 
and retention must therefore be a high priority for the council. 

Recruitment Plans

All authorities are struggling to recruit new foster carers. There are many reasons for this, 
including the rising costs of housing and living resulting in 2 people in the household often 
needing to work outside the home to provide an adequate household income. (Whilst we 
don’t require foster carers to stay at home we do need them to be able to meet the needs of 
children placed, including school runs and attending meetings which will limit employment 
options outside the home).

A recent Mosaic profiling of our current foster carers and the demographics of Salford’s 
population and housing profile has demonstrated that as an authority Salford faces 
particular challenges, unlike some of our neighbouring authorities, such as Stockport and 
Trafford who are faring better with recruitment. Initial profiling has given some indicators of 
who, where and how to target advertising campaigns but further work is currently being 
undertaken on this new way of approaching more targeted recruitment. This is being utilised 
in our recruitment plans.

We are looking at innovative ways to recruit and retain foster carers. We would welcome 
discussions with members and other council departments about the ways in which the 
council and other partner agencies can support this. For example other councils have 
introduced an exemption from council tax for foster carers; there is the potential to consider 
many offers from the council or partner agencies for foster carers. We are keen to offer 
additional privileges and recognition to those who choose to foster for Salford.

Page 44



Not all the children in residential placement or IFA placements would be suitable for in 
house foster families, however we know that many of those placements are made because 
of lack of capacity in house rather than by placement need. Children placed in IFAs have 
been identified as follows:

Short Term Placements 22
Short break care 1
Long Term Placements 26
Plans of adoption 5

Those with a long term plan have been linked with their carers and will remain, however 
they will have been placed initially on a short term basis, which with enough carer choice 
would not have been required. 

There are currently 42 children in outside residential placements. The ages of children 
placed in these and with IFAs (short term) is as follows (although this doesn’t give the full 
picture of the age or need of the children at the time of initial placement):

AGE GROUP Residential IFA (short term)
Under 10s 8 4
11-13 12 7
14-15 14 6
16+ 8 5

We also know that there are children waiting for long term placements to be identified. We 
are actively family finding for 23 children. Being able to recruit long term carers would free 
up short term carers for new referrals or short term placement requirements.

A recruitment plan has been drawn up which includes the following:
 Long term
 Older children
 Siblings

More foster carers will lead to more vacancies, better matching, improving outcomes for 
children, and aid retention of foster carers.

Retention of Foster Carers

The Fostering Services recognises that the foster carers are its greatest asset. Retention is 
a high priority; our fostering social workers work closely with foster carers, having a good 
understanding of their needs and concerns. 

In addition to the continued support we have also introduced some initiatives to help carers 
in their role as follows:

 developed a comprehensive training programme
 introduced 24 hours telephone support for all foster carers

Page 45



 bought in to the Max scheme which offers discounts to foster families for days out 
and trips

 expanding foster carer support groups
 increased the categories for the long service awards
 monthly newsletter to the fostering family starting in January

Fostering Allowances – Current Position

Foster carers are paid between £187 and £316 per week per child depending upon their 
level of experience (see Table 1). Current payments to foster carers are made up of a 
boarding allowance (the minimum rate set by government) and an additional skills payment. 
The table below sets out the figures. Family and Friends carers who have not undertaken 
training receive the minimum amount. Approved foster carers will receive skills 2 at 
approval. If they complete the relevant training they will move onto skills 3 after around a 
year and skills 4 after approximately another year. Foster carers are not paid for their hourly 
rate. The maximum skills payment of £125 that carers can receive as a reward for caring for 
a child equates to 74 pence per hour. While foster carers are not in paid employment in the 
role it takes huge commitment and skills to care for a looked after child, alongside all the 
other requirements such as meeting attendance, appointments, school and contact 
transport, record keeping, etc. Foster carers accept they don’t receive a living wage for their 
role but low fees widen the gap.

In comparison with other NW Local Authorities Salford are paying between the second and 
fourth lowest rates (of 20 authorities submitting reliable figures, dependent on age bands); 
one or 3 LAs are paying lower (depending on age bands).

TABLE 1
Current payments

Age Range

Boarding 
allowance 
Weekly new rate

including 
skills 2 
payment of 
£60

including 
skills 3 
payment of 
£90

including 
skills 4 
payment of 
£125

Under 1 127 187 217 252
1 to 4 130 190 220 255
5 to 10 143 203 233 268
11 to 15 164 224 254 289
16 to 17 191 251 281 316

Fostering Allowances Review

In order to be comparable with other local authorities, be a realistic alternative to IFAs and 
to aid retention Salford need to complete the process of review that begun with the 
consultation last year.

Following preparation and internal consideration in October 2017 a consultation took place 
with the foster carers which proposed moving to a flat fee from the current allowance and 3 
Skills payments. The current system was seen as over complicated, incurring excessive 
administration processes and not being attractive in a competitive recruitment market. The 
cost of the proposal would have been an additional £750,000 per year. During the 
consultation the foster carers were overwhelmingly rejecting of the proposal, primarily 

Page 46



because they felt that experienced carers who have trained and developed their skills 
needed to be recognised and rewarded differently from other types of carers. The benefits 
of a tiered system were reconsidered and it was then decided that this would be retained. 

This would be in line with most local authorities and as recommended by Sir Martin Narey 
and Mark Owers Fostering Stocktake; Foster Care in England. This review for the 
Department for Education, which was published in February 2018, warmly endorsed tiered 
financial support to reward the skills of foster carers. 

Salford foster carers were informed that we would no longer be seeking a flat fee and that a 
new proposal would be put forward. Over the past year there have been several discussions 
and tentative agreements of proposals with senior managers and lead member. 

In addition since the consultation last year the Focus carers have formally requested that 
their fees are reviewed. The Focus scheme is a specialist fostering scheme of 25 carers 
who take children with complex emotional and behavioural needs who require long term 
foster placement and might otherwise move placements frequently or be in residential 
homes. Focus carers have a high level of support and at least one carer is required to be 
home based. During the consultation the Focus carers had been informed that their 
payments would be reviewed once the general carers had been reviewed and any agreed 
changes implemented. It now seems timely to review all fees at this time, rather than 
coming back in a few months time with further proposals. Therefore there is now a new 
proposal for the council to consider in relation to all foster carers and their payments.
 
Proposal to Increase Fostering Allowances

This section outlines the proposal to be considered in relation to 2 areas of foster carer 
allowances and fees – weekly Skills payments and Focus Skills payments.

Weekly Skills Payments - 
This new proposal aims to address the concerns raised during the consultation period and 
seek to secure a rise in Skills payments which would allow rates to be more in line with 
other local authorities. Due consideration has been given to all the points raised by both 
foster carers and staff and a thorough examination of all the various allowances currently 
paid. The new proposal is to continue with a skills based payment system. This recognises 
the experience of foster carers and rewards them for remaining with the local authority. The 
skills payments are also able to be used as retainers for example, when children are in 
hospital, for specific solo placements, when there are allegations, etc. This also allows 
some leverage for engagement with training. (Attendance at training is also being 
addressed through the new training programme and the link with foster carer annual 
reviews). 

It is proposed to increase the skills payment made to carers by 40%, bringing the current 
range of £187 - £316 up to £211 - £366. This would make for a dramatic headline figure for 
current and prospective carers. The actual cost would be significantly less than the 
previously proposed flat fee as it would be an additional £460,000 from last year’s total 
payments, rather than the £750,000 which was previously proposed and agreed. The 

Page 47



additional cost is based on the current numbers of looked after children placed with in house 
foster carers. As the numbers of children being placed in house increases the annual 
budget of foster allowances will increase however the savings will be £39,832 per year (for 
IFA placements) and £197,132 (for residential) for each child who can be brought back or 
placed in house initially. 

Table 2 

40% increase

Boarding 
allowance 
weekly rate 2018

including 
skills 2 
payment of 
£84

including 
skills 3 
payment of 
£126

including 
skills 4 
payment of 
£175

Under 1 127 £211 £253 £302
1 to 4 130 £214 £256 £305
5 to 10 143 £227 £269 £318
11 to 15 164 £248 £290 £339
16 to 17 191 £275 £317 £366

The benefits of retaining the skills payment have already been explained. The increase of 
40% to the skills payment will indicate to current carers that the long awaited rise to 
payment has been addressed. The actual increase will be between £24 and £50 per week 
per placement. In comparison with the 20 other LAs this would place us as between the 8th 
and 13th best paying authorities (depending on age bands); between 7 and 12 LAs will still 
be paying a higher rate. Oldham pay their highest payment of £556 for 16+ and £518 for 11 
– 15 yrs with Bury paying a similar figure.

The investment of £460,000 to up lift the skills payments will show current foster carers that 
their service is valued, assisting with retention. A headline figure of a 40% increase will be 
attractive when recruiting new carers. With the large costs of IFA and outside residential 
placements, it is a council priority to increase our numbers of in house foster carers. Being 
able to retain our current carers and increasing the pool of foster carers, even in small 
numbers, will have a significant impact. The savings will be £39,832 per year (for IFA 
placements) and £197,132 (for residential) for each child who can be brought back or 
placed in house initially. 

DfE has awarded local authorities within Greater Manchester money to scale and spread 
across GM innovation projects delivered by Rochdale, Stockport, Wigan and Salford in 
2014-16 which focused on vulnerable adolescents, preventative help, edge of care work as 
well as complex families.  These projects have been evaluated by DfE partners and have 
demonstrated better outcomes for children and families, reduced demand and promoted 
cost savings and cost avoidance.

Salford Children Services has agreed to adopt and adapt North Yorks ‘No Wrong Door’ 
model. 

No Wrong Door is an integrated service and approach to supporting adolescents with 
complex needs. The model combines a defined culture and practice with a range of 
services, support and accommodation options and a team of specialists working together 
through a shared practice framework. At the heart of the model is a residential Hub, which 
provides short-term placements and outreach support.  No Wrong Door is one part of a 
larger system-change programme across North Yorkshire’s children’s services. The council 
identified high-needs adolescents as having particularly poor long-term outcomes, with the 

Page 48



system not coping well with these young people, segmenting support across professional 
specialisms and being too slow to respond to the needs of young people and families. 

Salford wish to adopt and adapt this model of care because:
 We intend to develop our workforce and create a ‘why can’t we’ culture rather than a 

‘permissions’ culture.
 We have seen from our residential review that increasing numbers of in-house 

residential admissions are short term and we want to build on this and see residential 
as a stepping stone to permanence and not a long term solution.

 Our vision is for better outcomes for Young people and families, the community, 
value for money, greater aspirations, improved education, training and employment 
engagement.

 We want every young person or carer to know they have someone/place to go at the 
first sign of need.

 Manage our resources more effectively 
 Ensure families stay together where possible 

Salford is very much in its infancy stages with NWD model and potential cost savings are 
currently being reviewed. However an independent evaluation of NY undertaken by 
Loughborough University has shown:

 No Independent Fostering Agency placements used since April 2015 for the young 
people in the No Wrong Door model

 Only one out-of-area placement used in 2016/17
 Savings of £850,000 from reduction in IFA placements

*Figures above from internal North Yorkshire County Council data. 

One of the benefits of the previous proposal of moving to a flat fee was to reduce the 
number of individual claims made for discretionary payments. The Foster Carer Fees and 
Allowances Handbook has been updated in draft form to make the criteria for discretionary 
payments clearer and streamlined which should reduce the electronic traffic in processing 
these. There will be some small savings to be made through this, for example the cessation 
of the 10+ premium, will save £14,000 per year. The clothing, birthday, holiday and other 
allowances are being reviewed currently as part of this. The new allowances handbook will 
be implemented at the same time as the 40% increase to skills payments coming into force.

Focus – 16 of the 25 Focus foster carers have written to senior managers to outline their 
view that there has been no review or rise to the allowance paid since at least 2010. They 
point out the Consumers Price Index has risen by 14% in that period. Many employed 
people, including public sector workers have not seen a rise during this time as the austerity 
measures have affected so many. To award the Focus carers 2% would cost the council an 
additional £9200 per year. This seems an equitable way to address their request whilst 
acknowledging the budget constraints the council are under. It would be sensible to address 
this request within this proposal rather than submit it separately at a later date.

Future Considerations – The foster care allowances haven’t been increased for 10 years. 
Rather than wait until they fall below other authorities and reach a point of another review 
and request such as this it would be prudent to also consider an annual 1 or 2% increase to 
be built in.

Page 49



Assessment of risk

Salford is dependent upon its foster carers to offer high quality care to those children the 
council looks after. We need to ensure we recruit more foster carers in order to replace 
those who are likely to retire over the next few years and to ensure we have enough carers 
to place children in house where possible. The aim would be to have enough carers that 
IFAs or residential placements are not used purely because of a lack of resources available. 
Salford already faces challenges with recruitment due to the demographics of the city. 
Salford is on the geographical boundary of 6 other local authorities. Foster carers living near 
those boundaries may see there is little other difference between Salford and another LA 
apart from the financial support. The non-competitive allowances paid to carers will have an 
impact on both our recruitment and retention. As a service we are addressing all other areas 
of recruitment and retention that are within our control using the resources, innovation and 
other council supports that we are able to. A decision about the financial support required 
for foster carers needs to be made.

Resource Implications

The service is very aware of the current budget pressure in the council and in Children’s 
Services in particular and that this investment request is an additional pressure. Without the 
investment, high expenditure will continue to be necessary as outlined above. With the 
investment it is hoped that our fostering capacity can be increased and savings can be 
made in the current areas of pressure. Additional one-off investment for children and adult 
service provision was announced in December which amounts to approximately £2m for 
Salford. It has been provisionally agreed that this should be used for the pressure in 
Children’s Services. It is therefore proposed that the uplift in fostering payments be funded 
for the first year from that funding, with the collective work to recruit additional carers and 
deliver the transformation approach of No Wrong Door assisting with future funding 
arrangements.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by:  Chris Mee Strategic Finance Manager, 0161 778 
0434. 
This proposed increase to rates paid to in-house foster carers has in the medium to long 
term the potential to reduce the overall costs of Looked After Children, by improvements in 
the retention and recruitment of foster carers and a reduction in the use of more expensive 
Independent Foster Agency and Outside Placements. This increased investment should 
therefore be seen as an invest to save proposal that will sit alongside the planned 
introduction of the No Wrong Door model within Salford. However, in the short term this 
increase is likely to cause further pressure within the Childrens Services budget whilst these 
changes take effect. This short term pressure could be addressed by the use of the one off 
grant to fund it in 2019/20, but this use should be considered within the wider context of the 
pooling / risk share arrangements with the CCG also to be introduced in 2019/20

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A

Page 50



LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Lorraine Ashton Deputy Head of Children and 
Families (Legal) Group - The proposals are within the legal and statutory guidance 
framework

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED:   

CONTACT OFFICER: Sharon Hubber Assistant Director Specialist Services 603 4311
Patsy Molloy Fostering Service Manager 779 7959
Mike Kelly Head of Service 779 7914

Wards to which this relates:  All

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Date of Meeting: 24th April 2019
Agenda Item No: 4

                                                          

Page 1 of 11

SALFORD CITY COUNCIL AND NHS SALFORD CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP
 
CHILDREN’S COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE

AGENDA ITEM NO: 

Item for Information  

CHILDREN’S COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE: 1 MAY 2019

REPORT OF: Chief Finance Officer, Salford CCG

DATE OF PAPER: 16th April 2019

SUBJECT: 2019/20 Budgets and Scope of Integrated 
Care Fund 

IN CASE OF QUERY PLEASE CONTACT: Steve Dixon, Chief Finance Officer
0161 212 4804

PURPOSE OF PAPER:

The purpose of this paper is to provide the Children’s Commissioning Committee with a 
financial summary of the integrated fund in advance of more detailed monitoring reports on 
areas within the remit of this committee as we progress through the year.  This initial 
summary includes:

• An overview of the scope of services within the Integrated Fund for 2019/20 (sections 
2 and 3)

• An overview of the main financial risks for 2019/20 (section 4) and the work underway 
in the locality to mitigate these financial risks (sections 5 and 6)

Footnote:

Members of the Health and Care Commissioning Board will read all papers thoroughly.  Once papers are distributed 
no amendments are possible.

Page 53

Agenda Item 7



Date of Meeting: 24th April 2019
Agenda Item No: 4

Page 2 of 11

Health and Care Commissioning Board (HCCB)
Finance Report – 24th April 2019

Children’s Commissioning Committee 1st May 2019

1.  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
This report provides the Committee with a summary of  the scope of services within the 
Integrated Fund for 2019/20 (sections 2 and 3), with a more detailed breakdown of those 
services that fall under the responsibility of the 3 prime committees (Appendices 1 to 3)

Whilst a balanced budget has been set for 2019/20, there are still some financial risks 
associated with delivering a balanced financial position for the end of the year.  Section 4 
highlights the budget areas that present the greatest financial risk in terms of likelihood of 
overspending or the financial value of the overspend.  

A significant amount of work is underway in the locality to try and mitigate the financial risks- 
whether that is through contract risk share mechanisms with Salford Royal, or through 
service redesign and testing new models of working to achieve better outcomes for lower 
cost.  Section 5 sets out the work underway in the locality to try and mitigate the financial 
risks.  Appendix 5 provides more detail on the Salford Best Value programme for the CCG 
and Council. 

Whilst Partners are putting significant effort in managing the financial position in the locality, 
in the eventuality that the Integrated Fund overspends in year, Section 6 gives an overview 
of the Financial Framework that is included in the Partnership Agreement (schedule 10).  

The committee is asked to note the contents of this report.
 

2. SCOPE OF THE INTEGRATED FUND
The Partnership Agreement (Schedule 3) sets out the scope of the Integrated Fund and shows 
which services fall under the remit of each of the Children’s, Adults’ and Primary Care 
Commissioning Committees.  

Services have been categorised into the following 3 areas:

 Integrated Fund: Pooled Budgets- those health and care services that can be legally 
put into a section 75 pooled budget arrangement

 Integrated Fund: Aligned Budgets- those health services that cannot legally be put into 
a section 75 arrangement but Partners agree should be part of joint discussions.  There 
are 4 broad categories of health services that cannot legally be pooled, namely 
ambulance services, surgical hospital activity, radiotherapy services and termination 
of pregnancy services.

 In View Services- those services that sit outside of joint discussions and joint decision 
making.  The services interrelate with Pooled budget and Aligned budgets but the 
decision remains with the statutory organisation.

The overarching principle in creating the governance and committee structure was to have as 
much in scope and part of joint decision making as possible.  

Page 54



Date of Meeting: 24th April 2019
Agenda Item No: 4

Page 3 of 11

3. BUDGETS AND BUDGET SETTING
The integrated fund for 2019/20 is £601.5m, as summarised in table 1 below.  

Table 1: 2019/20 Integrated Fund by Committee

Committee
Pool            
(£m)

Aligned        
(£m)

Total Budget               
(£m)

Children's Commissioning Committee £114.3 £1.4 £115.7
Adults' Commissioning Committee £305.6 £90.6 £396.2
Primary Care Commissioning Committee £0.0 £89.6 £89.6
Total Integrated Fund £419.9 £181.6 £601.5

Appendices 1 to 3 set out more detail in relation to specific services within each of the 
Committee’s remits. 

Note that the financial value set out in the Partnership Agreement is £604.3m.  However, the 
CCG’s allocation has reduced by £2.8m since the Partnership Agreement was signed. 
However, the associated spend with this funding reduction has transferred to other 
commissioning bodies. Therefore there is nil financial risk associated with the funding 
reduction as the responsibility for the expenditure has also transferred.

The In View services amount to £254m and are shown in Appendix 4.   These services are 
outside the Integrated Fund and outside any financial risk share agreement.  The decision 
making for these services is retained by the statutory organisations services.  However, given 
that these services interrelate with those within the Integrated Fund, Partners agreed that 
these services should be visible in the integrated commissioning arrangements.  The CCG 
and Council are working through what level of discussion takes place in the integrated 
commissioning committees for these services. 

4. FINANCIAL RISKS
Whilst a balanced budget has been set for 2019/20, the basis for setting the budget values 
differs across certain budget categories.  For the hospital contracts, the 2019/20 budget is 
based on 2018/19 actual activity levels and an additional amount added for growth.  Social 
care budgets for 2019/20 were based on the 2018/19 budget levels and therefore any 
overspends in 2018/19 could materialise again in 2019/20. 

There is a level of financial risk associated with the Integrated Fund- ie the risk of the budgets 
overspending in year.  Some of the budget areas are more risky from a financial perspective 
than others, depending on whether the spend is driven by activity/demand, for example, or 
indeed the relative size of some of the budget areas means that a very small increase in 
activity could result in a large financial pressure.  

Table 2 below highlights the budget areas that are of most significant financial risk in 2019/20. 

Table 2: Main Areas of Financial Risk for the Integrated Fund in 2019/20

Page 55



Date of Meeting: 24th April 2019
Agenda Item No: 4

Page 4 of 11

Risks Most 
Likely

£m

Worst 
Case
£m

Adults: 
Acute 
Hospital 
Contracts 
Overspends

Hospital contracts are predominantly activity related and 
account for a high proportion of the health related spend.  A 
small percentage increase in activity can result in a high 
financial value.  A 1% overspend equates to around £1.6m.  
Historically, these contracts have overspent year on year even 
after setting the opening contract values based on previous 
year’s activity.  Given the growth in Salford’s population, the 
activity would be expected to grow if alternatives to hospital 
treatment were not available to meet demand.  

In order to mitigate the financial risk of contracts overspending:
 The hospital contracts for 2019/20 are based on actual 

activity in 2018/19 (ie last year’s overspends have been 
funded) and an additional amount of activity/budget was 
included for in year growth and waiting list initiatives

 The redesign work overseen by the Integrated Care 
Advisory Board has seen alternatives to hospital provision 
being set up in the community. The adults’ Transformation 
Fund has been targeted on community and primary care 
services with the aim of keeping people out of hospital.  
This has started to see some impact with the levels of 
activity growth in hospital last year being lower than 
previous years- and the levels of hospital activity growth 
was lower than the growth in population- so the admission 
rates going down

 A financial risk share has been agreed with Salford Royal 
for emergency care activity.  Activity volumes above the 
contract level is paid for at 20% of tariff

£0.8m £1.4m

Adults:
Adult Social 
Care

Last year’s overspend on Adult Social Care was £4.8m.  This 
year’s contract has been set based on last year’s budget,   with 
an additional £1.5m added for specific budget pressures. 
Therefore if spend for 2019/20 is in line with 2018/19 levels, 
this year’s overspend will be £3.3m.  There is a financial risk 
share built into the contract, with Salford Royal picking up 50% 
of the in-year overspend. The financial risk for the integrated 
fund, at 50%, is therefore £1.6m. 

£1.6m £2.0m

Children’s:
Children’s 
Social Care

The budgets for the children’s social care elements of the 
integrated fund have been based on last year’s budgets.  
There was an overspend of around £6m last year- therefore 
the anticipated overspend in 2019/20 will be £6m if there is no 
impact from the transformation work in reducing costs.  Costs 
have been increasing year on year, therefore a financial risk 
that the overspend could be higher in 2019/20.  A focus on the 
Best Value programme (see section 7 below) is on children’s 
services to test out new models of care with the aim of 
achieving good outcomes but at lower overall cost- particularly 
focussing on out of area placements.

£6.0m £7.0m

Primary The main area of unpredictable expenditure in the primary care £0.0m £1.0m

Page 56



Date of Meeting: 24th April 2019
Agenda Item No: 4

Page 5 of 11

Care: 
Prescribing 
costs

budgets relates to GP prescribing costs. This year’s budget 
was based on last year’s spend with 5% uplift applied for 
growth and 3% taken out for efficiency- therefore a net 
increase in budget of 2%.  It is difficult to predict fluctuations in 
drug prices. If the efficiencies are not achieved, this would 
equate to around £1m financial risk.  Year on year, the 
Medicine Optimisation team in the CCG has worked with GP 
practices to deliver their efficiency programme on prescribing.  

Total Financial Risks £8.4m £11.4m
Reserves 
Adults

Budgets not required in 2019/20 (but required in 2020/21)- 
therefore £1.0m available in year to offset any in year financial 
pressures.

(£1.4m) (£1.4m)

Impact of 
new service 
models

Best Value schemes or pilot models of care (see section 5 and 
Appendix 5)- could impact on reducing spend in 2019/20, 
particularly out of area placements.

(£1.0m) £0.0m

Total Net Financial Risk £6.0m £10.0m

5. MITIGATING FINANCIAL RISKS
Significant amount of work has already taken place to reduce costs and mitigate some of the 
financial pressures across health and care budgets.  Risk share approaches have been 
agreed in the opening contracts with Salford Royal (as described in the table 3 above) which 
reduces the level of financial risk on hospital spend and Adult Social care costs.  

In addition, significant amount of work is underway in the locality to redesign services to 
maintain or improve outcomes at a lower cost.  Non recurrent funding has been secured to 
enable the system to test new ways of working.   Salford’s Best Value Programme is a joint 
Council and CCG programme established to identify, develop and implement service change 
to deliver efficiencies to close the financial gap between income and costs.  Across the CCG 
and Council, the size of the financial gap for health and social care has been estimated at 
£18m by 2020/21 if no action is taken.  The focus is on “transformational” change to deliver 
the objectives of improving outcomes, ensuring value for money, and ensuring services can 
meet the future demand.  

Five principal programmes and six support programmes have been identified.  There are 
individual work streams within each programme- currently around 46 specific projects being 
explored. Each programme will be supported by a plan ensuring:

 Financial sustainability, better outcomes and future-proofing for all service 
developments,

 A workforce plan that clearly identifies the people and the costs,

 A benefits realisation proposal,

 A clear plan for measuring, tracking, reporting and monitoring, and a clear exit plan

There are a number of funding streams available to support the transformational change, all 
of which are non-recurrent in nature:

 £18.2m from the Greater Manchester Transformation Fund for Adults, for the three 
years to 2019/20.  2019/20 is the final year, with around £3m remaining.

Page 57



Date of Meeting: 24th April 2019
Agenda Item No: 4

Page 6 of 11

 £3.4m from the Greater Manchester Transformation Fund for Population Health, for 
the four years to 2020/21. Principally this fund has been targeted for Start Well (£2.1m) 
and Salford Voluntary Sector (£1.1m)

 Various GM non-recurrent investments to support a number specific of Children’s 
Services programmes 

 £4m for 2019/20 and 2020/21 set aside from the CCG’s allocation to support “invest to 
save” transformational change in Salford Children’s services- known as “Best Value 
Transformation fund”. 

All programmes will be subject to exit and sustainability plans, as appropriate, with any 
recurrent investment required being funded through the benefits and efficiencies realised 
through the individual programmes.  Tracking delivery and achievement of benefits is critical.  
The monitoring, evaluation and reporting will be through each of the 3 prime committees.

Appendix 5 provides a financial overview of the best value schemes totalling £6.1m identified 
for 2019/20 and an ambition of at least £19.5m by 2022/23.  The 2022/23 amounts are 
indicative at this stage and will be finalised as each of the work programmes develop their 
cases for change.  There are some work areas where financial estimates have not yet been 
included and therefore the £19.5m ambition for 2022/23 is understated.

6. FINANCIAL FRAMEWORK AND FINANCIAL RISK SHARE
Within the Partnership Agreement, there is a Financial Framework (schedule 10) which sets 
out the process and arrangements for:

 Agreeing and reviewing the annual financial contributions into the Integrated Health 
and Care Fund (Pooled Budget and Aligned Budget)

 Administration of the Integrated Health and Care Fund , financial monitoring and 
reporting requirements 

 The financial risk and benefit sharing arrangements 

 Procedural matters in relation to the Integrated Health and Care Fund (covering 
accounting treatment and standing financial instructions) 

If the mitigations to address the financial risks are not successful, the financial risk share 
agreement sets out how the overspend will be shared back to the partner organisations.  
For illustrative purposes, if none of the mitigations work, and the Integrated Fund overspends 
by £10m against those areas highlighted in table 2 above, the financial risk is shared by 
partners as set out in the Financial Framework and summarised in table 3 below.

Table 3: Illustrative: How the Financial Risk Share would be calculated if the Integrated 
Fund Overspent in line with Worst Case Scenario in Table 2 above

Forecast 
Overspend

Council CCG

Children £7.0m 68% £4.8m 32% £2.2m
Adults £2.0m 21% £0.4m 79% £1.6m
Primary Care £1.0m 0% £0.0m 100% £1.0m
Total Financial Risk £10.0m £5.2m £4.8m

Page 58



Date of Meeting: 24th April 2019
Agenda Item No: 4

Page 7 of 11

The Financial Framework also set out how partners will deal with recurrent under and 
overspends.  If there is an under or over spend for 3 Financial Years in succession, then this 
is deemed to be recurrent and this requires a different set of principles than a one year, 
financial risk share.  This could include adjustments to Partner contributions to the fund or 
increased savings targets, for example. 

The budgets will be monitored each month and reported to each of the three committees. In 
addition, progress against the Best Value and Transformation work streams will be reported 
to the committees to ensure we are tracking the effectiveness of those schemes. 

7. RECOMMENDATIONS
The committee is asked to note this update on the opening 2019/20 Integrated Fund in 
particular acknowledging the main financial risks and the work being undertaken to mitigate 
those risks, highlighted in Sections 4 and 5.  Throughout the year, more detailed monitoring 
reports will be presented on those areas within the remit of the Children’s Commissioning 
Committee.

Steve Dixon
Chief Finance Officer and Deputy Chief Accountable Officer
Salford CCG
16th April 2019

Page 59



Date of Meeting: 24th April 2019
Agenda Item No: 4

Page 8 of 11

Appendix 1: 2019/20 Opening Budgets: Children’s Commissioning Committee

Service 
Pool or 
Aligned Committee

2019/20 Budget 
(£000s)

Safeguarding Pool Children's £257
Looked After Children Pool Children's £21,820
Localities Pool Children's £10,626
Complex Needs SEN Pool Children's £4,953
Partnerships Pool Children's £3,685
Asset Management & Delivery Pool Children's £991
Transforming Learning Pool Children's £2,166
Early Years (Early Intervention/Starting Life Well) Pool Children's (£1,710)
Skills & Work / Careers Pool Children's £1,460
Helping Families Pool Children's £1,284
Resources & Investment Pool Children's £6,686
Children's Administration Pool Children's £1,340
Specific Grants Pool Children's £17,529
Pay Award (not yet transferred to individual budgets) Pool Children's £838
Public Health 0-19 Services  Pool Children's £5,270
Early Years Pool Children's £1,188
Youth Service Pool Children's £350
Hospital Contracts- Children's Medical Activity Pool Children's £25,574
Community Health Services- Salford Royal Pool Children's £9,128
Placements/Non Contracted Activity Pool Children's £872

Hospital Contracts- Children's Surgical Activity Aligned Children's £1,402
£115,712Total Children's Commissioning Committee

Page 60



Date of Meeting: 24th April 2019
Agenda Item No: 4

Page 9 of 11

Appendix 2:  2019/20 Opening Budgets: Adults’ Commissioning Committee

Service 
Pool or 
Aligned Committee

2019/20 Budget 
(£000s)

Adult Social Care - Salford Royal Pool Adults £90,429
Adult Social Care- Council Retained Pool Adults £3,781
Adult Social Care - Disabled Facilities Grant (DSG) Pool Adults £2,859
Adult Social Care- National Living Wage Pool Adults £2,350
Adult Social Care- improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) Pool Adults £1,694
Hospital Contracts- Salford Royal Adults Medical Activity Pool Adults £83,958
Hospital Contracts- Adults Medical Activity (excluding Salford Royal) Pool Adults £23,613
Hospital Activity- Non Contracted Activity Pool Adults £2,614
Community Health Services- Salford Royal Pool Adults £30,749
Community Health Services- excluding Salford Royal Pool Adults £2,409
Mental Health Services - Greater Manchester Mental Health (GMMH) Pool Adults £30,932
Mental Health Services- excluding GMMH Pool Adults £4,315
Mental Health Packages of Care- Individual Placements Pool Adults £7,129
Continuing Health Care & Funded Nursing Care Pool Adults £6,760
Community Assets/ Voluntary Sector Pool Adults £1,889
Shared Care Record Pool Adults £183
Healthy Living Centres Pool Adults £1,007
Drug & Alcohol Contracts - Salford Pool Adults £3,711
Sexual Health Contracts - Salford Pool Adults £1,969
Sexual Health Cross Charging (Out of Salford Activity) Pool Adults £525
Health Improvement Service Pool Adults £1,178
All Other Contracts Pool Adults £112
Contingency Reserve Pool Adults £1,398

Hospital Contracts- Adults Surgical Activity Aligned Adults £77,374
Hospital Contracts- Radiotherapy Activity Aligned Adults £1,570
Ambulance contracts Aligned Adults £11,028
Termination of Pregnancy contracts Aligned Adults £628

£396,164Total Adults' Commissioning Committee

Appendix 3: 2019/20 Opening Budgets: Primary Care Commissioning Committee

Service Pool or Aligned Committee
2019/20 Budget 

(£000s)
Primary Care - GP contracts Aligned Primary Care £40,873
Primary Care - Salford Standard Aligned Primary Care £7,958
Primary Care - GP Prescribing Aligned Primary Care £40,811

£89,642Total Primary Care Commissioning Committee

Page 61



Date of Meeting: 24th April 2019
Agenda Item No: 4

Page 10 of 11

Appendix 4: In View Services

Service 

CCG: 
2019/20 
Budget 
(£000s)

Council: 
2019/20 
Budget 
(£000s)

Total: 
2019/20 
Budget 
(£000s)

Contingency In View Other £4,802 - £4,802
Committed Developments/Service Developments In View Other £14,195 - £14,182
Corporate Costs In View Other £4,585 - £4,585
Running Costs In View Other £5,548 - £5,548
Primary Care IT In View Primary Care £2,390 - £2,390
Welfare Rights and Citizen's Advice In View Adults £153 - £110
Primary Care - Public Health In View Primary Care - £457 £457
Social Worker  Training / Workforce Development In View Children's - £499 £499
Safeguarding In View Children's - £1,488 £1,488
Looked After Children In View Children's - £5,869 £5,869
Localities In View Children's - £352 £352
Youth Offending Service In View Children's - £1,012 £1,012
Complex Needs SEN In View Children's - £43 £43
Partnerships In View Children's - £1,047 £1,047
Asset Management & Delivery In View Children's - £20,713 £20,713
Transforming Learning In View Children's - £204 £204
Early Years (Early Intervention/Starting Life Well) In View Children's - £95 £95
Skills & Work / Careers In View Children's - £201 £201
Resources & Investment In View Children's - £15,147 £15,147
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) In View Children's - £173,005 £173,005
Pay Awards for in View Services In View Children's - £289 £289
Regulatory services In View Other - £476 £476
Devolved Community Budgets In View Other - £250 £250
Salford Community Leisure  In View Other £180 £1,190 £1,190
Affordable Warmth In View Other - £35 £35
Domestic Abuse Service (Supported Tenancies) In View Other - £210 £210

£31,853 £222,581 £254,197TOTAL - In View

Page 62



Date of Meeting: 24th April 2019
Agenda Item No: 4

Page 11 of 11

Appendix 5: Salford’s Best Value Programme

2019/20 2022/23 RAG Additional Comments

Placements/ "No Wrong Door" model/ 
"Ealing" model/SEND £0.0 £4.0

Mental Health £0.0 £0.0
Population Health: Start Well £0.0 £0.0
Domestic Abuse £0.0 £0.0

Adults Acute Mental Health 
Placements £0.8 £1.2

Programme live from Aug 18, is currently delivering efficiencies 
of +£80k per month 

Mental Health Rehab/Acute £0.0 £0.2 Currently in discussion with GMMH
Learning Disability £0.0 £0.2 In progress
Neuro-Rehab £0.0 £0.2 GM-wide programme is in progress.
Council Procurement Review £0.0 £2.0 Council-wide review is in progress

GMMH Block Contract £0.0 £2.0 Evaluation complete, discussion with other CCGs regarding 
pace of change

Review of community contracts £0.1 £0.2 2019/20 value part year, 2022/23 full year
Children's Speech & Language 
Therapy 

£0.0 £0.0 In progress 

Neighbourhoods
Extended Care
High-volume Pathways
Sustainable Primary Care

5 Extra Care Additional extra care facilities in 
Salford

£0.0 £0.0 Will be long-term programme, potentially requiring new build

Lease Rationalisation £0.0 £0.0
Reduction of Void Space £0.0 £1.0
Reduction in unnecessary 
prescriptions £0.0 £0.5 Is part of GM-wide programme

Annual savings programme £1.2 £4.0 Year on review with budget reduction
Off-patent drugs [Adalimumab] £0.9 £0.9 Recurrent saving- all of this will be delivered in 2019/20

MSK £0.0 £0.0
Limited value procedures - best 
practice

£0.0 £0.0

National QIPP £0.0 £0.0

10 Public Health 
Support

Support to children's, adults, primary 
care - planning, assessing and impact

£0.0 £0.0

Contract challenges
Digital maturity
Tableau and New dataset
Primary Care support

£6.1 £19.5Total Best Value Benefits: cash-releasing, cost 
avoidance and containment of future growth

9 EUR
Currently being considered as part of business planning for 
2019/20

11
Technology 
& Business 
Intelligence

£0.0 £0.0

Running 
Costs

Programme will consider (i) Salford 
Integration Programme, (ii) GM 
commissioning Review, (iiii) GM 
shared services- all in the context of 
20% reduction in CCG running costs

£0.4 £1.0
Around £0.4m required in 2019/20 and £1m required by 
2020/21.  Low risk for 2019/20.  Biggest saving opportunity 
relates to co-location with council

£2.1

Review and evaluation is under Integrated Care Programme 
Governance reporting directly to ICJC and other CCG and 
Council Governance as required.  Recurrent savings in 2022/23 
are net of any additional costs required for new models of care.

The 6 Support Program
m

es

6 Estates 
Strategy

In progress, also aligned to the Salford Locality Asset Review 
of all public sector estates

7 Medicines 
Optimisation

8

Adults Out Of 
Area 
Placements

3

VFM from 
block 
contracts & 
Procurement 
Review

4 Integrated 
Care

£2.7

Salford Best Value Programme: Draft March 2019
Figures are agreed with programme and finance lead
Figures are provisionally agreed for potential recurrent benefit but need further validating with programme & finance leads
Figures are estimate only at this stage and need further work to confirm

Figures are in £ millions

The 5 Principal Program
m

es

1 Children's 
Themes

Children's programmes are under development. Efficiencies will 
result principally from bring young people currently placed out 
of borough back into Salford.  Additional costs likely in the 
early years (which are funded by Best Value Transformation 
Fund and other non recurrent funding sources) in order to 
release recurrent savings in later years 

2

Note: The 2022/23 amounts are indicative at this stage and will be finalised as each of the 
work programmes develop their cases for change.  There are some work areas where 
financial estimates have not been included in the above and therefore the £19.5m ambition 
for 2022/23 is understated. 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Terms of Reference - for information
	4 Business Planning Update  - Karen Proctor/Emma Reid
	Appendix 1 - Annual Business Plan 2019-20

	6 Fostering Allowances Report - for information
	7 Finance Report - Joanne Hardman/Steve Dixon

